
 

IN THE COURT OF CRIMINAL APPEALS
OF TEXAS  

NO. PD-0257-15

GREGORY SHAWN HENLEY, Appellant

 v.

THE STATE OF TEXAS

ON STATE’S PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

FROM THE SECOND COURT OF APPEALS

TARRANT COUNTY

RICHARDSON, J., delivered the opinion of the Court in which MEYERS, JOHNSON, 

KEASLER, ALCALA, and YEARY, JJ. joined.  MEYERS, J. filed a concurring opinion.

KELLER, P.J., filed a dissenting opinion in which HERVEY and NEWELL, JJ. joined. 

HERVEY, J., filed a dissenting opinion in which KELLER, P.J. and NEWELL, J. joined. 

NEWELL, J., filed a dissenting opinion in which KELLER, P.J. and HERVEY, J.  joined. 

O P I N I O N

Appellant, Gregory Shawn Henley, was found guilty by a jury of misdemeanor assault

causing bodily injury to a family member.  He was sentenced to confinement for 200 days

in the Tarrant County Jail.  Appellant complained on appeal that the trial court excluded

evidence that appellant sought to introduce in support of his claim of defense of a third
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person.   Specifically, appellant claimed that he was justified in pulling his ex-wife out of her1

car by her hair, punching her in the face several times (resulting in two severe black eyes and

several cuts and bruises), and hitting her head against the concrete driveway, because he was

concerned that his ex-wife was not a fit parent and wanted to protect his two sons from the

possibility of being harmed at some future time by people  who were not present at the time

of the assault.

The Second Court of Appeals concluded that appellant should be able to present

evidence in support of this purported justification defense.  We disagree.  Appellant’s claim

in no way constitutes a valid claim of defense of a third person under Section 9.33.  Even if

appellant’s concerns were legitimate, the evidence he sought to introduce did not give rise

to any type of justification defense.  Appellant’s ex-wife posed no immediate threat to his

sons.  In fact, no one posed an immediate threat to his sons.  The evidence appellant sought

to introduce in support of his purported justification defense was irrelevant.  Evidence that

is not relevant is inadmissible.  The trial court judge did not abuse her discretion by

excluding it.  We reverse the decision of the court of appeals and reinstate appellant’s

conviction. 

BACKGROUND

Appellant and his ex-wife, Brandy Gillingham, were engaged in a custody battle.  The

family court had issued a temporary order, providing that their two sons would live with

 TEX. PENAL CODE § 9.33.1
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appellant while their permanent custody case was pending.  The order specified that Brandy

was to have supervised visitation on the weekends and that the visits were to be supervised

by Brandy’s mother or father.   2

On March 3, 2012, Brandy and her mother went to appellant’s house to pick up the

children for her court-ordered supervised visitation.  When they arrived to pick up the boys,

Brandy would not speak with appellant other than to tell him to bring the children to the car. 

Appellant refused to get the boys, so Brandy called 911, claiming that appellant was violating

the court order that allowed her visitation.  That prompted appellant to bring the boys to the

car and put them in the backseat.  Brandy was sitting in the driver’s seat of the car waiting

on the police to arrive  when appellant attempted to force the car door open.  He broke the3

car door’s handle.  When Brandy opened the car door and leaned over to retrieve the handle,

appellant pulled Brandy out of the car by her hair, hit her in the face with his fists, and

knocked her head against the concrete driveway.  He also shoved Brandy’s mother, who fell

backwards onto the concrete, suffering a broken arm.  Appellant then got in his car and drove

away.

At trial, appellant’s justification defense was that he believed he needed to assault

Brandy to protect his sons.  Appellant’s counsel requested that he be allowed to put forth

evidence to support his claim of defense of a third person.  He asked the court to permit him

 The terms of the family court order were not in dispute.2

 The 911 operator told Brandy “to stay until the police officer arrived.”3
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to cross-examine Brandy about allegations of misconduct by Douglas Gillingham, whom she

married after she divorced appellant, and allegations of sexual abuse of the two boys by

Douglas’ eleven-year-old former stepson.  Appellant also sought to introduce his own

testimony that, if Brandy left his house with their sons, he believed she would allow the boys

to come in contact with Douglas and the former stepson, and this would put them in a

dangerous situation.  Appellant asserted that this evidence supported his claim of defense of

a third person, and the jury should have been allowed to consider it.  The trial court ruled that

the evidence was inadmissible.

ANALYSIS

We review a trial judge’s decision to admit or exclude evidence under an abuse of

discretion standard.  A trial judge abuses her discretion when her decision falls outside the

zone of reasonable disagreement.  Before a reviewing court may reverse the trial court’s4

decision, “it must find the trial court’s ruling was so clearly wrong as to lie outside the zone

within which reasonable people might disagree.”5

Finding a piece of evidence to be relevant is the first step in a trial court judge’s

determination of whether the evidence should be admitted before the jury.   Even though our6

 Moses v. State, 105 S.W.3d 622, 627 (Tex. Crim. App. 2003) (citing to Montgomery v. State,4

810 S.W.2d 372, 391 (Tex. Crim. App. 1991) (op. on reh’g)); Torres v. State, 71 S.W.3d 758, 760

(Tex. Crim. App. 2002).

 Taylor v. State, 268 S.W.3d 571, 579 (Tex. Crim. App. 2008).5

 Montgomery, 810 S.W.2d 372, 375 (Tex. Crim. App. 1991) (op. on original submission)6

(“Finding a piece of evidence to be ‘relevant’ is the first step in a trial court’s determination of whether
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rules “favor the admission of all logically relevant evidence for the jury’s consideration,”7

the trial court judge is still in charge of making the threshold decision as to whether evidence

is relevant or not, and her decision will not be disturbed on appeal unless it is “clearly

wrong.”   8

A defendant’s right to present evidence relevant to a valid justification defense should

not be confused with a defendant’s right to present his case-in-chief.  A defendant has the

right to put on his case-in-chief, but that right is not without limitations.  A defendant does

not have an unfettered right to present evidence that has no relevance.  In citing to United

States Supreme Court case law, this Court has held that “[a] defendant has a fundamental

right to present evidence of a defense as long as the evidence is relevant and is not excluded

by an established evidentiary rule.”   Only relevant evidence is admissible, and the trial court9

judge has the discretion to exclude irrelevant evidence.    10

Relevant evidence is evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact

that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than

the evidence should be admitted before the jury as ‘[a]ll relevant evidence is admissible . . . Evidence

which is not relevant is not admissible.’”).

 Id.7

 Taylor, 268 S.W.3d at 579. 8

 Miller v. State, 36 S.W.3d 503, 507 (Tex. Crim. App. 2001) (citing to Chambers v.9

Mississippi, 410 U.S. 284, 302 (1973)).

 TEX. R. EVID. 402 (“Irrelevant evidence is not admissible.”).10
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it would be without the evidence.   Thus, to be relevant, evidence must be material and11

probative.   For evidence to be material, it must be shown to be addressed to the proof of a12

material proposition, which is “any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the

action.”   “If the evidence is offered to help prove a proposition which is not a matter in13

issue, the evidence is immaterial.”   For evidence to be probative, it “must tend to make the14

existence of the fact ‘more or less probable than it would be without the evidence.’”15

“Relevancy is defined to be that which conduces to the proof of a pertinent

hypothesis—a pertinent hypothesis being one which, if sustained would logically influence

the issue.”   Thus, if no “issue” in the case could be influenced by the proffered evidence,16

then that evidence is irrelevant and thus inadmissible.  “Relevancy is not an inherent

characteristic of any item of evidence but exists as a relation between an item of evidence

and a matter properly provable in the case.”  A “fact of consequence” includes either an17

 TEX. R. EVID. 401 (“Evidence is relevant if: (a) it has any tendency to make a fact more or11

less probable than it would be without the evidence; and (b) the fact is of consequence in determining

the action.”).

 Miller, 36 S.W.3d at 507. 12

 Id. (citing to 1 Steven Goode et al., Texas Practice: Guide to the Texas Rules of Evidence:13

Civil and Criminal § 401.1 (2d ed. 1993 & Supp. 1995)).

 Id.14

 Id.15

 Montgomery, 810 S.W.2d at 376 (citing to Waldrop v. State, 138 Tex. Crim. 166, 13316

S.W.2d 969, 970 (1940)).

 Id. at 375 (citing to Advisory Committee’s Note to FED. R. EVID. 401)).17
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elemental fact or an evidentiary fact from which an elemental fact can be inferred.   “An18

evidentiary fact that stands wholly unconnected to an elemental fact, however, is not a ‘fact

of consequence.’”  19

A. The Testimony That Was Excluded

The State filed a motion in limine to exclude certain evidence that appellant wanted

admitted.  To assist in making her pretrial ruling, the trial court judge asked to hear Brandy’s

testimony outside the jury’s presence.  She granted the State’s motion in limine, but agreed

to reconsider her ruling when Brandy took the stand during trial.  After Brandy testified, the

judge excused the jury, and Brandy again gave testimony outside the jury’s presence.  The

trial judge stood by her ruling and did not allow the evidence to be admitted.  After the

State’s last witness, appellant asked to present the evidence through his own testimony.  The

judge agreed to hear what appellant had to say on the stand outside the presence of the jury. 

The trial court judge was not convinced and again denied admission of the requested

evidence.  In order to assess whether the trial court judge abused her discretion in excluding

the evidence, it is important to know exactly what that evidence was.   

 Rankin v. State, 974 S.W.2d 707, 710 (Tex. Crim. App. 1996) (op. withdrawn in part on18

reconsideration of other grounds).

 Id.19
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1. Brandy’s Testimony Before Trial

Before trial began, on direct examination by the State, Brandy testified that there was

a temporary court order in place allowing her to have supervised visits with her two sons at

her mother’s house from Saturday at 9:00 a.m. to Sunday at 6:00 p.m.  She explained that the

court order precluded her husband, Douglas Gillingham, from coming in contact with the

children.  Brandy testified that she always followed that order because she knew she could

lose custody of her children if she disobeyed it.  Brandy said that, when she and her mother

arrived at appellant’s house to pick up her children, appellant refused to get them, so Brandy

called 911 “to have an officer come out to make sure [she got her] children.”  She then

described how appellant assaulted her.  

Appellant’s counsel then cross-examined Brandy regarding why her visits had to be

supervised:

Q. Why was the visitation supposed to be supervised that day?

A. Due to the fact that I was still with Douglas Gillingham.

Q. What does Douglas Gillingham have to do with your visitation being

supervised that day?

A. Due to the fact that his former stepson sexually assaulted my children.

* * * 

Q. And was [Appellant] aware of that?

A. Yes. . . . There was [also] an allegation that . . . Douglas choked my children.
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The State objected to any mention of Douglas Gillingham or his former stepson, since

neither was present at the time of the offense, arguing that anything regarding Douglas

Gillingham or his former stepson occurred at least seven months before this incident, and

there had been no proof of any contact between the children and Douglas Gillingham or his

former stepson since the CPS investigation and family court visitation order.   In fact, by the

time of trial, all restrictions preventing contact between Douglas and the two boys had been

lifted.  CPS found that the choking allegations against Douglas were not true.  The prosecutor

argued that any testimony of alleged prior wrongdoing by the former stepson and/or Douglas

Gillingham was not relevant, and even if it were relevant, it would be substantially more

prejudicial than probative.  

The trial court ruled that appellant’s counsel could establish only that Brandy was

allowed supervised visitation, that the visitation would be for specific times, and that

Brandy’s mother had to be present.  The court would not allow appellant’s counsel to

question Brandy regarding why there was supervised visitation. 

2. Brandy’s Testimony During Trial

After Brandy testified before the jury, appellant’s counsel renewed his request to

introduce evidence related to Douglas Gillingham and his former stepson as forming the

basis for appellant’s concerns for his sons’ safety.  The court allowed appellant’s counsel to

question Brandy outside the presence of the jury:

Q. Ms. Gillingham, it’s true that [Appellant] was trying to talk to you about your

sons on March 3 ? . . . [Appellant] acted like the boys were not safe goingrd
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with you?

A. That was his assumption.

* * * 

Q.  . . . The [family] court believed you had to be supervised.

A. That is true.

Q. Why did the court believe you had to be supervised?

A. Because I would not stop seeing Mr. Gillingham.

Q. And it’s Mr. Gillingham that the boy said choked him—choked them?

A. Correct.

Q. So the court wanted you to stop seeing this man, based on allegations that your

sons had made about [Douglas] abusing them?

A. Correct.

Q. And you continued to see this man?

A. Correct.

Q. Continued to have your boys around this man?

A. No.

Q. Okay.  You told the court that you had moved out or weren’t living with

Douglas; is that right?

A. Correct.

Q. That wasn’t true; you were still living with Douglas.

A. Correct.
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* * * 

Q. While [the boys] were in your care previously, they had been sexually abused.

A. Correct.

Q. They had been sexually abused by Douglas Gillingham’s son . . .

A. Correct.

Q. And it would have been in your care that Douglas would have abused them,

assuming that allegation was true.

A. Correct.

Q. Now, is there any reason that your boys would have lied about Douglas

Gillingham abusing them?

A. No.

Q. Was [appellant] present in court when you told the family law judge that you

weren’t living with Douglas Gillingham?

A. Correct.

Q. And so he became aware that you were misleading the court in that respect?

A. Correct.

During appellant’s voir dire examination of Brandy, the court permitted the State to re-direct:

Q. Ms. Gillingham, those choking allegations against Douglas, when were they?

A. In August of 2011.

Q. Was CPS conducting an investigation?

A. Yes.
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Q. What was the result of the investigation against Douglas?

A. They found it not to be true.

Q. Were there any further allegations after that?

A. No.

Q. That court order, it specifically says [Douglas’ former stepson] cannot be

around your two children, correct?

A. Correct.

Q. Are your children around [Douglas’ former stepson] at any time?

A. No.

Q. Have they been since that order has been in place?

A. Correct.

* * * 

Q. During the period of time between August 2011 and March 3 , 2012, didrd

Douglas Gillingham have any contact with [your sons]?

A. No.

Q. Was that by court order?

A. Yes.

Q. During the time you were with [your sons], between August 2011 and March

3 , 2012, were all those times supervised?rd

A. Correct.

Q. What would have been the result of Douglas Gillingham being near your

children during that time?
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A. I would have potentially lost custody.

Q. Do you want to lose custody of your children?

A. No.

The trial court judge then conducted her own questioning of Brandy to clarify whether

any of this evidence had relevance to any issue raised in the case:

THE COURT: Between August 2011 and March 3  [2012] . . . you hadrd

supervised visitation with your two sons?

THE WITNESS: Correct.

THE COURT: And was Douglas Gillingham present during those supervised

visitations?

THE WITNESS: No, ma’am.

THE COURT: And on March the 3 , the day of this offense, was Mr.rd

Gillingham at your home?

THE WITNESS: No.

THE COURT: Is that where you were taking the boys?

THE WITNESS: No.

THE COURT: Where were you taking the boys?

THE WITNESS: To my mother’s home.

THE COURT: Once again, just to make sure I have this straight, the August

2011 CPS investigation was started because Mr. Henley called

CPS about the allegation that Douglas Gillingham was choking

[your son].
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THE WITNESS: Correct.

THE COURT: And then the result of the CPS investigation was what?

THE WITNESS: It came out that [Douglas’ former stepson] was sexually abusing

both of my children.

THE COURT: And what about the allegation of choking?

THE WITNESS: It became—it was found not to be true.

Appellant’s counsel argued that the court should admit all of the evidence related to

the alleged misconduct by Douglas and his former stepson because it showed that appellant

had “a legitimate concern” for the safety of his children, and Brandy’s “lying to the Court

create[d] a legitimate concern about her following the court orders.”  Appellant’s counsel

also argued, in the alternative, that testimony elicited by the State from Brandy’s mother that

appellant had been irate left a false impression about appellant’s state of mind, and he should

be allowed to explain why he may have been acting irate.  

The State responded that the allegations of abuse of the boys arose in August of 2011.

Beyond that, there were no further allegations of abuse reported.  Since the initial report was

made to CPS, appellant never made any subsequent calls to CPS or to the police.  He did not

call the police or CPS on the day of the offense, the day before the offense, or the week

before the offense.  The trial court ruled that the proffered testimony would not come in.
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3. Appellant’s Testimony   

After the State finished presenting its witnesses, but before resting, the trial court

allowed appellant to testify outside the presence of the jury “for the limited purpose of

allowing the court to hear evidence to reconsider its ruling.”

Q. Did you feel that if [Brandy] took your sons that your sons would be in

imminent danger or that she would be placing your sons in a dangerous

condition?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Is that the reason for your actions on March 3 ?rd

A. I believe so, yes.

Q. Now, explain to the court what dangerous condition or danger you perceived

on March 3 .rd

A. My ex was continually not paying attention to what was going on to my boys. 

. . . Her taking them back to see—putting them back in the situation that they

found themselves in in August of 2011.

Q. And was there a court order in place that would forbid her from doing that?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And did you believe she would violate that court order?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And when she came to your house to pick up the boys, did you believe it was

her intention to violate that court order?

A. Yes, sir.
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Q. Now, you said that the conditions—or explain to the court what it is that

happened to the boys that gave you such concern.

A. The week prior to her showing up to pick up the boys, we were in counseling,

and I had [my son] on my arm because he wanted me in the counseling with

him to go through everything.  And throughout the—[my son] . . . was

explaining [how Douglas’ former stepson] would make him and his brother

sleep with each other in front of him and – 

Q. Was that new information?

A. That was new at that time.

* * * 

Q. After the boys were in the car, did you continue to try to talk to Brandy and her

mother . . . ?

A. Yeah.  I started pleading with them, and I went over the whole [the boys know]

all the ordeal with how it all turned out, how this wasn’t a one-time deal, that

[my son] had said it happened in the middle of the day while you were

watching TV, how can you do this, how can you continue on this path.

Q. And [Brandy’s mother], that was there, was she responsive to what you were

telling?

A. No.  She just totally ignored it like it wasn’t anything.

Q. But she was the person what was supposed to be supervising the visits?

A. Yes.  

Q. And so did that contribute to your belief that they were going to put your boys

in a dangerous situation?

A. Yes.
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Q. Do you believe that your children being in their mother’s care was a danger to

them?

A. Yes.

* * *

Q. And your actions on March 3  were to defend your boys from what yourd

perceived as an imminent threat to the boys?

A. Yes.

The trial court judge ruled that this evidence was not relevant to the issue of defense

of a third person.  Because the trial court judge would not allow any of the above testimony

to come into evidence during guilt-innocence, appellant decided to not testify in front of the

jury.  20

B. The Proffered Evidence Was Neither Material Nor Probative

As noted above, in deciding whether evidence is relevant, the proper inquiry is

whether the evidence is helpful in determining the truth or falsity of any fact that is of

consequence in the case.   To decide whether a fact is “of consequence” to the case, we must21

look at appellant’s purpose for offering the evidence and decide whether that purpose can be

achieved with such evidence.  Appellant’s stated purpose for offering the testimony set out

above was to support his claim of defense of a third person. 

 Appellant chose to go to the court for punishment.  Both sides re-offered all of the evidence20

from guilt-innocence, including the proffered evidence heard outside the presence of the jury. The

court admitted all of this evidence for consideration on punishment. 

 Montgomery, 810 S.W.2d at 376.21
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Under Texas Penal Code Section 9.33, a person is justified in using force against

another to protect a third person if: (1) under the circumstances as the actor reasonably

believes them to be, the actor would be justified in using force to protect himself against the

unlawful force he reasonably believes to be threatening the third person he seeks to protect,

and (2) the actor reasonably believes that his intervention is immediately necessary to protect

the third person.   In other words, a defendant is justified in defending a third person if,22

under the circumstances as the defendant reasonably believes them to be, the third person

would be justified in defending himself.  23

Both self-defense and defense of a third person require that there be a reasonable

belief in the immediate need to act.  Under a claim of self-defense, a person must reasonably

believe that the use of force is “immediately necessary” to protect himself against the other’s

use or attempted use of unlawful force.  Under a claim of defense of a third person, a person

must reasonably believe that his intervention is “immediately necessary” to protect the third

person.  The term “immediately necessary” is not defined in either statute.  Terms not defined

in a statute are to be given their plain and ordinary meaning.   Words with meanings so well24

known as to be understood by a person of ordinary intelligence are not to be considered

 TEX. PENAL CODE § 9.33.22

 Morales v. State, 357 S.W.3d 1, 4 (Tex. Crim. App. 2011) (citing to Hughes v. State, 71923

S.W.2d 560, 564 (Tex. Crim. App. 1986)).

 See Watson v. State, 369 S.W.3d 865, 870 (Tex. Crim. App. 2012) (citing to Floyd v. State,24

575 S.W.2d 21, 23 (Tex. Crim. App. 1978)).
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vague and indefinite.   25

Although this Court has not examined the immediacy requirement in the context of

defense of a third person, we have addressed it under the justification defense of necessity. 

Under Texas Penal Code Section 9.22, unlawful conduct is justified if the actor reasonably

believes the conduct is immediately necessary to avoid imminent harm.   “Imminent” has26

been defined as “ready to take place, near at hand, impending, hanging threateningly over

one’s head, menacingly near.”   Thus, imminent harm is harm that is ready to take27

place—harm that is coming in the very near future.   Logically, then, if conduct is

“immediately necessary” to avoid harm that is imminent, that conduct is needed right now. 

The justification defense of necessity applies when action is needed “immediately” (i.e.,

 Id.25

 TEX. PENAL CODE § 9.22 (“Conduct is justified if: (1) the actor reasonably believes the26

conduct is immediately necessary to avoid imminent harm; (2) the desirability and urgency of avoiding

the harm clearly outweigh, according to ordinary standards of reasonableness, the harm sought to be

prevented by the law proscribing the conduct; and (3) a legislative purpose to exclude the justification

claimed for the conduct does not otherwise plainly appear.”).  Appellant did not raise the justification 

defense of necessity.  However, for the same reasons discussed herein, the excluded evidence would

not have been relevant to that defense either.  The asserted harm that appellant believed would be

inflicted on his sons by Douglas or his former stepson was not “imminent.”  Appellant’s concern

regarding his sons’ exposure to Douglas or his former stepson was certainly understandable, may have

been valid, and the harm to his sons at the hand of Douglas or his former stepson was possible.  But

it was not immediate, certain, or imminent.  Therefore, the trial court’s exclusion of the evidence

would not have been erroneous even if appellant had argued that the evidence was relevant to the

justification defense of necessity.  

 Devine v. State, 786 S.W.2d 268, 270 (Tex. Crim. App. 1989) (citing to out-of-state27

authorities and BLACK’S LAW DICTIONARY 676 (rev. 5th ed. 1979)).
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now) to avoid “imminent” harm (i.e., harm that is near at hand).   Applying this28

interpretation in the context of self-defense and defense of a third person, force that is

“immediately necessary” to protect oneself or another from a person’s use of unlawful force

is force that is needed at that moment—“when a split second decision is required.”   29

Brandy acknowledged outside the presence of the jury that she had misrepresented to

the family court judge that she was not living with Douglas.  This is a disturbing fact of

which appellant was aware when he assaulted Brandy.  Appellant also gave compelling

testimony about why he did not trust Brandy to watch over the boys and why her ignoring his

concerns was making him so angry.  However, even if all of this evidence showing that

Brandy was an unfit parent were true—Brandy’s lack of truthfulness to the family court

judge, her apparent lack of communication with appellant about his concerns for the boys,

and her failure to take the boys’ accusations against Douglas and the former stepson

 See e.g., Dewalt v. State, 307 S.W.3d 437, 454-55 (Tex. App.—Austin 2010, pet. ref’d.)28

(Accused of kidnapping her son to protect him from his father, “Dewalt assert[ed] that she faced

‘imminent harm’ beginning when the jury rendered its verdict awarding custody of J.M.D. to Michael.

. . . Whatever threat of harm that Michael could have presented to J.M.D. from Dewalt’s perspective

was not ‘something that [was] going to happen now.’ . . . In short, these undisputed facts negate, as

a matter of law, the sort of ‘emergency situation’ necessitating a ‘split-second decision made without

time to consider the law’ that distinguishes ‘imminent harm’ and can raise a necessity defense.”).  In

Schier v. State, 60 S.W.3d 340, 344 (Tex. App.–Houston [14th Dist.] 2001, pet. ref’d), an interference

with child custody case, the court of appeals held that the defendant was not entitled to present

evidence of the negative conditions in the mother’s home to support his necessity defense because such

evidence did not establish imminent harm.  Although acknowledging that the environment appellant

sought to avoid for his daughter was deplorable, the court held that his testimony explaining his

reasoning did not require him to act immediately.

 Smith v. State, 874 S.W.2d 269, 273 (Tex. App.—Houston [14th Dist.] 1994, pet. ref’d)29

(“immediately necessary” means “when a split second decision is required”) abrogated on other

grounds by Clewis v. State, 922 S.W.2d 126 (Tex. Crim. App. 1996).
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seriously— appellant still was not justified in assaulting Brandy.  This proffered evidence

was not relevant to defense of a third person because none of it showed that appellant had

to make the split-second decision to assault Brandy in order to keep his boys from

immediately being harmed then and there.  Since neither Douglas nor his former stepson

were present at the time of the assault, for the proffered evidence to be material to defense

of a third person, the evidence would have had to show that assaulting Brandy was

immediately necessary to protect his children against Brandy’s or her mother’s use or

attempted use of unlawful force against the children.  Brandy’s taking her children for a

weekend supervised visit, which was undisputedly allowed by a family court order, was not

unlawful force against the children.  There was no evidence suggesting that either Brandy

or her mother was threatening an immediate attack upon the boys.  Appellant never claimed

that Brandy and/or her mother were about to harm the boys, and none of the excluded

evidence (or evidence from any source) indicated that the boys were in any immediate danger

from Brandy or her mother.  More importantly, the excluded evidence did not show that

Douglas or his former stepson was about to come in contact with the boys or that such

contact was imminent.  The proffered evidence pertained only to what appellant feared might

happen based on what he had been told a week before, which is not a fact of consequence to

defense of a third person.  Even if admitted, the evidence could not support the claim that

appellant acted in defense of a third person because the harm from which appellant was

purportedly protecting his children was neither immediately present nor certain to occur in
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the immediate future.

Brandy had a valid court order allowing her to take her sons for a supervised visit. 

If appellant had concerns about Brandy taking the boys on her supervised visitation, his 

remedy was not to assault Brandy in order to prevent her from taking their sons just because

he feared she might allow them to come in contact with Douglas (or his former stepson). 

Appellant had other legal remedies that were available to him.  There is no evidence that,

during the week prior to the assault, appellant did anything to prevent Brandy’s supervised

visit, such as seeking a temporary restraining order, so that his concerns could be addressed. 

Other options were available to appellant to protect his sons from such anticipated future

danger.  In fact, Brandy had already put in a call to 911 when appellant refused to bring his

sons to the car.  She had been told to wait for the officer, and appellant could have voiced his

concerns to the police officer at that time.  Instead of recognizing that Brandy’s 911 call

would have given him an opportunity at that moment to seek protective assistance on his

sons’ behalf, appellant put his sons in Brandy’s car (thereby creating in the first place what

he claimed was the immediate “danger”), then he physically assaulted Brandy, and then he

got into his car and drove away, leaving his sons behind. Appellant’s explanation of why he

acted this way may have made his expression of anger more understandable, but it was not

pertinent to a valid justification defense. It was not relevant to any matter “properly

provable” in the case.   30

 Montgomery, 810 S.W.2d at 375 (citing to Advisory Committee’s Note to FED. R. EVID.30

401)).



Gregory Shawn Henley  —  23

If we were to hold that appellant was entitled to present this evidence to the jury, we

would be recognizing that appellant was in fact claiming a valid justification defense and that

the proffered evidence was supportive of that claim.  That decision could have far-reaching

evidentiary ramifications because it not only eliminates the relevancy requirement set out in

Rules 401 and 402, but it also eliminates the immediacy requirement set out in Sections 9.31

and 9.33.  For example, if a person has a concern that someone might hurt him or another at

some future point, then could that person be justified in striking a preemptive first blow to

prevent that anticipated future danger?  Appellant’s proffered evidence is relevant only to the

adage that “the best defense is a good offense.”  But bellicose adages are not part of Texas

or United States jurisprudence.  In fact, our decision in this case is consistent with case law

decided over one hundred years ago.  In Andersen v. United States,  a case decided in 1898,31

the United States Supreme Court addressed issues that are remarkably similar to those before

us.

It is true that a homicide committed in actual defense of life or limb is

excusable, if it appear [sic] that the slayer was acting under a reasonable belief

that he was in imminent danger of death or great bodily harm from the

deceased, and that his act in causing death was necessary in order to avoid the

death or great bodily harm which was apparently imminent.  But where there

is manifestly no adequate or reasonable ground for such belief, . . . the plea of

self-defense cannot avail. . . .

According to his own statement, Andersen, after he had shot the captain,

thought about the mate, armed himself with the captain’s pistols, went in

search of his victim, and finding him aloft on the mainmast, at work, called

 170 U.S. 481 (1898).31
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him down, or, seeing him coming down, awaited him, and shot him.  He was

not only the aggressor, but the premeditated aggressor.  The captain being

dead, he knew the mate would assume command, and that it would be his duty

to arrest him and take him ashore for trial.  The imminent danger which

threatened him was the danger of the gallows.  The inference is irresistible that

to avert that danger he killed the mate, cast the bodies into the sea, burned the

ship, and took to the open boat.  There can be no pretense that he was acting

under a reasonable belief that he was in imminent danger of death or great

bodily harm at the hands of the mate.  

. . . The case, as Andersen’s testimony made it, afforded no basis for the

introduction of evidence of prior provocation, or even of injuries previously

inflicted, for no overt act on the mate’s part provoked the evil intent with

which Andersen sought him out on this occasion.  Such evidence would not

have been relevant, in view of the circumstances, as tending either to make out

self-defense, or to reduce the grade of the crime.

We are not insensible to the suggestion that persons confined to the narrow

limits of a small vessel, alone upon the sea, are placed in a situation where

brutal conduct on the part of their superiors, from which there is then no

possible escape, may possess special circumstances of aggravation.  But that

does not furnish ground for the particular sufferer from such conduct to take

the law into his own hands. Nor for the suspension of those general rules

intended for the protection of all alike, on land or sea.  

Complaint is made because the court refused to allow a witness to testify as to

the general reputation of the captain.  If there had been any adequate basis for

the contention that Andersen killed the mate in self-defense, by reason of a

reasonable belief in imminent danger from him, evidence of his character for

ferocity, brutality, and vindictiveness might have been admissible.  But, as the

record stood, the character of the captain could have no legal bearing on the

issue of the guilt of the accused of the murder of the mate.  32

The same requirement for immediacy still applies.  The same basic rule of relevancy

still applies.   To be justified in using force to protect a third person, the third person had to

 170 U.S. at 509-10 (citations omitted).32
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have been in immediate danger.  An imagined future scenario is not enough.  Appellant’s

anticipation that there might be future harm to his sons does not fit into the legal justification

of defense of a third person.  Thus, if the proffered evidence would not have supported

appellant’s claimed justification defense, then there was no valid reason to admit the

evidence in the first place.  Appellant’s proffered evidence was not evidence of a justification

defense, so he did not have an absolute right to present it to the jury.  Because Douglas and

his former stepson were not present, they did not pose an immediate danger to the boys. 

And, the proffered evidence did not tend to make the likelihood that either Brandy or her

mother was about to endanger the boys any more or less probable.  Therefore, the evidence

was not material, it was not probative, and thus, it was not relevant.  The trial court judge’s

decision to exclude the evidence was not so clearly wrong as to be outside the zone of

reasonable disagreement.  There was no abuse of discretion. 

C. The Proffered Evidence Was Inadmissible Under Rule 403

An evidentiary ruling will be upheld if it was correct on any theory of law applicable

to the case.   We hold that, even if the proffered evidence had been relevant, the trial court33

judge had the authority under Rule 403  to exclude it.   In determining whether it would34 35

 De La Paz v. State, 279 S.W.3d 336, 344 (Tex. Crim. App. 2009).33

 TEX. R. EVID. 403 (“The court may exclude relevant evidence if its probative value is34

substantially outweighed by a danger of one or more of the following: unfair prejudice, confusing the

issues, misleading the jury, undue delay, or needlessly presenting cumulative evidence.”)

 The record does not reflect whether the trial court judge conducted a Rule 403 balancing test. 35

However, as noted above, she did not have to do so in order for us to uphold her ruling.  De La Paz,

279 S.W.3d at 344 (“[I]f the trial court’s evidentiary ruling is correct on any theory of law applicable
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have been proper to exclude the evidence under Rule 403, we balance the claimed probative

force of the proffered evidence along with appellant’s asserted need for that evidence against

(1) any tendency of the evidence to suggest that the case would be decided on an improper

basis; (2) any tendency of the evidence to confuse or distract the jury from the main issues;

(3) any tendency of the evidence to be given undue weight by a jury that has not been

equipped to evaluate the probative force of the evidence; and (4) the likelihood that

presentation of the evidence will consume an inordinate amount of time or merely repeat

evidence already admitted.  36

The first three factors support the trial court’s decision to exclude the evidence. 

Appellant claimed that the evidence was probative of his perception that the boys were in 

immediate danger.  However, the excluded testimony did not reflect an immediate danger. 

Because the evidence did not pertain to any valid defensive theory in the case, it had no

purpose.   Admission of this evidence would only have served to confuse and distract the jury

from the main issues, and would have allowed them to give undue weight to this evidence

for no purpose other than, possibly, jury nullification.  Thus, the proffered evidence was

inadmissible under Rule 403.  The trial court’s evidentiary ruling was correct under this

theory as well.

to that ruling, it will not be disturbed even if the trial judge gave the wrong reason for his right

ruling.”) (citing to Sewell v. State, 629 S.W.2d 42, 45 (Tex. Crim. App. 1982) (“[W]hen a trial court’s

ruling on the admission of evidence is correct, although giving a wrong or insufficient reason, this

Court will not reverse if the evidence is admissible for any reason.”)).

 Gigliobianco v. State, 210 S.W.3d 637, 641-42 (Tex. Crim. App. 2006).36
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D. The Reasonableness of Appellant’s Belief Was Not An Issue For The Jury

In Hayes v. State,  the trial court instructed the jury as to the justifiable use of less-37

than-deadly force in the context of a self-defense charge.  The appellant claimed that the trial

court erred by not properly instructing the jury.  He asserted that the jury should have been

permitted to determine whether his belief that deadly force was necessary was reasonable.

The court of appeals rejected this argument, stating that there was no evidence that he was

reasonably warranted in drawing a gun on his unarmed opponent.   This Court held that,38

whether a defendant’s belief was “reasonable” was a fact issue for the jury: “Whether the

appellant’s beliefs were reasonable and justifiable and whether or not the appellant used

more force than necessary under the circumstances were fact questions for the jury to

decide.”   39

Under a claim of defense of a third person, a person must reasonably believe that his

intervention is “immediately necessary” to protect the third person.   If appellant had put40

forth evidence that, at the time he assaulted Brandy, an unlawful force was threatening his

 728 S.W.2d 804, 808-09 (Tex. Crim. App. 1987).37

 Id. at 807.38

 Id. at 808; see also Granger v. State, 3 S.W.3d 36, 39 (Tex. Crim. App. 1999) (Appellant’s39

defense was that, through mistake, he formed a reasonable belief about no one being in the car, and

that mistaken fact negated the kind of culpability required for commission of murder.  Citing to Hayes

and several other cases, this Court held that whether appellant’s mistaken belief was reasonable was

an issue for the jury.) 

 The term “reasonable belief” is defined as one that would be held by “an ordinary and40

prudent man in the same circumstances as the actor.” TEX. PENAL CODE § 1.07(a)(42).
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sons, then we would agree that the reasonableness of his belief that his intervention was

immediately necessary to protect his sons would be an issue for the jury.  However, the

evidence that appellant sought to admit did not suggest that an unlawful force was at that

moment threatening his sons.  The evidence related to appellant’s perception that his children

might be in danger from a future unlawful force.  Although appellant offered this evidence

to show why he thought his actions were reasonable, none of the proffered testimony had any

tendency to show that the children were in need of immediate protection.  The proffered

evidence did not relate to a properly provable defense-of-a-third-person issue because it did

not pertain to whether the children were in immediate danger from an unlawful force.  Thus,

the reasonableness of appellant’s perception was not at issue because his perception was of

a scenario that, even if true, did not provide a legal justification for the assault.  Therefore,

Hayes would not apply here.

E. Fielder v. State Does Not Apply

The court of appeals held that appellant was entitled to present evidence to support

his claim of defense of a third person, just as the defendant was entitled to present the

“battered-spouse defense” in Fielder v. State.   In Fielder, the appellant claimed that she41

killed her husband in self-defense.  This Court held that, under Texas Penal Code, Section

19.06 (currently Section 38.36), evidence of facts and circumstances surrounding the killing

and the previous relationship between the victim and the defendant were admissible to show

 Henley, 454 S.W.3d at 115 (citing to Fielder v. State, 756 S.W.2d 309, 317 (Tex. Crim. App.41

1988)).
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the defendant’s state of mind.   This Court also held in Fielder that expert testimony was42

admissible to show the reasonableness of appellant’s apprehension of fear that the victim was

about to kill her at that moment.  We find the facts in Fielder, and, more particularly, the

legal issue decided under those facts, to be distinguishable.  The evidence proffered by the

defendant in Fielder was relevant to her defense because of Section 19.06, and because it

was relevant to her perception that she was about to be attacked.  There is no corresponding

statutory provision that would render the proffered evidence in this case relevant, and the

evidence did not pertain to whether the boys were about to be attacked with unlawful force. 

F. Appellant Was Not Denied His Right of Confrontation

Appellant also argues that he was erroneously prevented from confronting the State’s

witnesses who painted him as an irrationally angry man.  He claimed that he should have

been allowed to cross examine Brandy and her mother about the new allegations that had

emerged from the children’s counseling session concerning abuse that had occurred during

the time that Brandy had custody of the children. The appellate court agreed, holding that

“denial of the right of confrontation and cross-examination is an error of constitutional

magnitude.”  It held that the trial court erred by denying appellant the right “to further show43

 Fielder, 756 S.W.2d at 321.  TEX. PENAL CODE § 19.06 (“In all prosecutions for murder or42

voluntary manslaughter, the state or the defendant shall be permitted to offer testimony as to all

relevant facts and circumstances surrounding the killing and the previous relationship existing between

the accused and the deceased, together with all relevant facts and circumstances going to show the

condition of the mind of the accused at the time of the offense.”)  This provision has been recodified

as TEX. PENAL CODE § 38.36(a).  Only the words “or voluntary manslaughter” have been deleted.  

 Henley, 454 S.W.3d at 117.43
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his state of mind and further develop his justification defense.”   We disagree.  44

“[T]he Confrontation Clause occasionally may require the admissibility of evidence

that the Rules of Evidence would exclude.”  The Confrontation Clause grants a defendant45

the right to cross-examine the witnesses against him.  Whether there has been a violation of46

the Confrontation Clause is determined on a case-by-case basis.  In determining whether47

evidence must be admitted under the Confrontation Clause, the trial court must balance the

defendant’s right to cross-examine and the probative value of the proffered evidence against

the risk factors associated with admission of the evidence.  The trial court maintains broad48

discretion to impose reasonable  limits on cross-examination to avoid harassment, prejudice,

confusion of the issues, endangering the witness, and the injection of cumulative or collateral

evidence.   49

After reviewing the facts of this case, we cannot conclude that the trial court judge

abused her discretion in excluding the evidence.  The evidence was not probative.  It did not

show in any way that appellant was justified in assaulting Brandy.  It wasn’t even marginally

 Id.44

 Lopez v. State, 18 S.W.3d 220, 225 (Tex. Crim. App. 2000). Unlike in Lopez, we are not45

presented with events that occurred when appellant and the complainant were alone.  This case does

not involve a “swearing match” that produced a “heightened need” to impeach Brandy’s credibility.

Id.

 Id. at 222.46

 Id.47

 Id.48

 Id.49
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relevant.  And, appellant has failed to assert how the proffered evidence would have shown

any specific motive or bias any of the witnesses might have had to testify falsely in this case. 

Finally, admission of the evidence would have presented a significant risk that the jurors

might be distracted from the charged case and might disregard appellant’s actions due to their

dislike of Brandy.    

Moreover, the defendant’s state of mind about what he thought might happen in the

future was not relevant to whether his conduct was immediately necessary to protect his sons

from Douglas or Douglas’ former stepson.  Douglas was not there.  His former stepson was

not there.  There was no evidence that Brandy or her mother was about to use unlawful force

on the boys.  A defendant has a constitutional right only “to present a valid defense.”  50

Courts are “free to apply evidentiary rules that are not arbitrary and unjustified,” and the

exclusion of evidence that is not “relevant, material, important evidence” does not “offend

the Constitution.”   The rules regarding relevancy are neither arbitrary nor unjustified, nor51

were they applied by this trial court in an “arbitrary” way that was “disproportionate to the

purposes they [were] designed to serve.”   Since the evidence appellant sought to introduce52

was not relevant to any valid justification defense, his constitutional rights were not violated.

After reviewing the record as a whole, we conclude that the trial court’s exclusion of the

 Potier v. State, 68 S.W.3d 663-64 (Tex. Crim. App. 2002) (quoting DePetris v. Kuykendall,50

239 F.3d 1057, 1062-63 (9th Cir. 2001) and citing to United State Supreme Court cases) (emphasis

added). 

 Id. at 662.51

 Id. at 659 (citing to United States v. Scheffer, 523 U.S. 303, 316 (1998)).52
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proffered evidence did not violate appellant’s rights under the Confrontation Clause.

CONCLUSION

We hold that the evidence that appellant sought to introduce to support his claimed

justification defense was not material to, nor probative of, any fact that was of consequence

to the determination of this action.  Because the evidence was not relevant, it was

inadmissible, and the court’s exclusion of irrelevant evidence was not a violation of

appellant’s constitutional rights.  The trial court judge did not abuse her discretion.  We

reverse the decision of the court of appeals and reinstate appellant’s conviction.
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